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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
BAHRAIN DEVELOPMENT BANK B.S.C. (c) 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Bahrain Development 
Bank B.S.C. (c) (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (together "the Group"), which comprise of the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated 
statements of profit or loss, other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material 
accounting policy information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
 
Basis for opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements in the Kingdom of Bahrain, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
 
Other information 

Other information consists of Report of the Board of Directors, set out on page 1 to 3, other than 
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Board of Directors is 
responsible for the other information.  
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

mailto:manama@bh.ey.com


 
 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
BAHRAIN DEVELOPMENT BANK B.S.C. (c) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS and for such internal control as the Board of 
Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of 
Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 
•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

 
•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors. 
  



 
 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
BAHRAIN DEVELOPMENT BANK B.S.C. (c) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
•  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis 

of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.  

 
•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 

entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
As required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and Volume 1 of the Central Bank of 
Bahrain (CBB) Rule Book, we report that: 
 
a) the Bank has maintained proper accounting records and the consolidated financial 

statements are in agreement therewith;  
 
b) the financial information contained in the Report of the Board of Directors  is consistent with 

the consolidated financial statements; 
 
c) we are not aware of any violations of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, the Central 

Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law, the CBB Rule Book (Volume 1 and 
applicable provisions of Volume 6) and CBB directives, or the terms of the Bank’s 
memorandum and articles of association during the year ended 31 December 2023 that 
might have had a material adverse effect on the business of the Bank or on its consolidated 
financial position; and 

 
  



 
 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
BAHRAIN DEVELOPMENT BANK B.S.C. (c) (continued) 
 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (continued) 
 
d) satisfactory explanations and information have been provided to us by the Board of 

Directors in response to all our requests. 
 

 
 
Partner's registration no. 115 

25 February 2024 

Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain 







Bahrain Development Bank B.S.C. (c) 

For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

Net profit for the year 537            502            

Other comprehensive income / ( loss):

Items that will not be reclassified to 

profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Changes in fair value through other comprehensive income reserve

on equity instruments -                (49)            

Items that will be reclassified to

profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Changes in fair value of investments classified as fair value through 

other comprehensive income on debt instruments 843 (972)          

Changes in fair values of cash flow hedges, recycled to profit or loss (264)          13              

Net amount transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss

on sale of debt instruments 96 -                

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 1,212         (506)          

Total comprehensive income / (loss) attributable to:

Owners of the Bank 1,271         (483)          

Non-controlling interest (59)                         (23)

1,212         (506)          

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

    The accompanying notes 1 to 37 form part of these consolidated financial statements.____________________________________________________________________________________  
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Bahrain Development Bank B.S.C. (c) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Share 

capital

Statutory 

reserve Total

Total 

equity

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

63,669       1,186       -                   (305)        (2,000)            62,550     315           62,865     

-                -              -                   -              596                596          (59)            537          

-                -              -                   579          -                     579          -                579          

-                -              -                   579          596                1,175       (59)            1,116       

63,669       1,186       -                   274          (1,404)            63,725     256           63,981     

Share 

capital

Statutory 

reserve Total

Total 

equity

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

65,000       1,186       4,048           703          (2,525)            68,412     320           68,732     

-                -              -                   -              525                525          (23)            502          

-                -              -                   (1,008)     -                     (1,008)     -                (1,008)     

-                -              -                   (1,008)     525                (483)        (23)            (506)        

Capital reduction (1,331)       -              (4,048)          -              -                     (5,379)     -                (5,379)     

-                -              -                   -              -                     -              18             18            

63,669       1,186       -                   (305)        (2,000)            62,550     315           62,865     

The accompanying notes 1 to 37 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

Equity attributable to owners of the Bank

Equity attributable to owners of the Bank

Other capital 

contribution

Accumulated 

losses

Non - 

controlling 

interest

Non - 

controllin

g interest

Accumulated 

losses

Other 

capital 

contribution

Other 

reserves

Other 

reserves

As at 1 January 2022

As at 31 December 2022

Other comprehensive loss for the year

Minority interest movement

Net profit / (loss) for the year

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year

As at 31 December 2023

Other comprehensive income for the year

As at 1 January 2023

Net profit / (loss) for the year

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year

14
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Bahrain Development Bank B.S.C. (c) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022

Notes BD ’000 BD ’000

Net profit for the year 537           502           

Depreciation 793           848           

Allowance for expected credit losses - net 21 136           647           

Changes in fair value of investments classified as FVTPL 22 474           (165)         

Changes in discounted value of loans and deposits 890           (371)         

Dividend income 22 (50)           (229)         

Share of profit from associated companies 10 (3)             (11)           

Loss on foreign currency translation (70)           (154)         

2,707        1,067        

966           (1,785)      

19,388      9,014        

701           (1,934)      

14,376      (2,335)      

(1,526)      1,266        

36,612      5,293        

12 (808)         61             

(40,705)    (40,523)    

Proceeds from sale of investment securities 45,581            33,572 

11 (3,113)      -               

Dividend income received 22 50             229           

1,005        (6,661)      

Repayment of term loans 14 (6,968)      (7,000)      

Addition of term loans 14 4,524        -               

(2,444)      (7,000)      

      35,173        (8,368)

14,307      22,675      

7 49,480      14,307      

Additional information:

Islamic financing and interest received 8,255        10,361      

Islamic financing and interest paid 1,518        1,199        

Addition to investment properties

Adjustments for:

Islamic financing and loans to customers

Other assets

Net additions to property and equipment

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR

Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITY

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Mandatory reserve deposits with central banks 

Net cash flow from / (used in) operating activities

Other liabilities

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Deposits

Cash flow used in financing activity

Purchase of investment securities

Net cash flow from / (used in) investing activities

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

    The accompanying notes 1 to 37 form part of these consolidated financial statements.____________________________________________________________________________________
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Bahrain Development Bank B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at 31 December 2023

1 INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES

2

2.1    Statement of Compliance

2.2    Accounting convention

2.3   Basis of consolidation

The Bank has the following principal subsidiaries:

2023 2022

100% 100%

99% 99%

78% 78%

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the

Board of Directors of the Bank on 25 February 2024.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB")

and are in conformity with the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law ("BCCL") and the Central Bank of

Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law, the CBB Rule Book (Volume 1 and applicable provisions of Volume

6) and CBB directives, regulations and associated resolutions, and the terms of the Bank’s memorandum

and articles of association.

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and its

subsidiaries (the "Group"), all of which have 31 December as their year end and are incorporated in the

Kingdom of Bahrain. All intra-group transactions and balances including unrealised gains and losses on

transactions between the Group companies have been eliminated on consolidation.

These consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain

investment securities carried at fair value through profit or loss, or through other comprehensive income,

that have been measured at fair value.

Management consultancy activities

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Bahrain Development Bank B.S.C. (c) ("the Bank" or "BDB") was established as a Bahraini closed

shareholding company by Legislative Decree number 19 dated 11 December 1991 and commenced

operations on 20 January 1992. The Bank is registered with the Ministry of Industry and Commerce

("MOIC") under Commercial Registration ("CR") number 26226. The Bank’s registered office is in the

Kingdom of Bahrain, P.O Box 20501. The Bank is operating as a retail bank with special waivers under a

license issued by the Central Bank of Bahrain ("CBB"). The majority shareholding of the Bank is owned by

the Government of the Kingdom of Bahrain (“Parent”) and it’s related entities ("Pension Funds").

The core activities of the Bank consist of advancing loans for project finance, working capital, premises and

equipment for developing industries and service sectors such as Tourism, Health and Education in the

Kingdom of Bahrain, and also invests in the share capital of such entities. As part of this activity, the Bank

also renders management consultancy services and subscribes to ordinary and preference shares in locally

incorporated companies. Additionally, loans are advanced for Agriculture, Fisheries and Higher Education

purposes. Other activities of the Bank comprise making a direct contribution towards the economic

development of the Kingdom of Bahrain.

Ownership interest

Al-Waha Venture Capital Fund 

Company

Neotech W.L.L.

Trusts, Funds and Similar Financial 

Entities - Fund Company

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in Bahraini Dinars which is the functional and

presentation currency of the Bank and all values are rounded off to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise

indicated. 

 

Development and assistance to emerging 

Bahraini entrepreneurs

Bahrain Business Incubator Centre 

S.P.C.

Principal activity

_______________________________________________________________________________________
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Bahrain Development Bank B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at 31 December 2023

2

a) 

b) 

c) 

a) 

b) 

c) The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND ESTIMATES

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in OCI to profit or loss or

retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the

related assets or liabilities.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. Control is

achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the

investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the

Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has: 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity

transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;

The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

Profit or loss and each component of Other Comprehensive Income ("OCI") are attributed to the equity

holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial

statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions

between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there

are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the

Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are

included in the statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the

Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;

Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant

activities of the investee);

Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers

all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;

Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has exercised judgment and

estimates in determining the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements. The most

significant uses of judgment and estimates are as follows:

Going concern

The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern

and is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future.

Furthermore, the management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt

upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements

continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

_______________________________________________________________________________________
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Bahrain Development Bank B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at 31 December 2023

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND ESTIMATES (continued)

a) 

b) 

c) 

Impairment of financial instruments

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;

Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as

unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDs, EADs and LGDs;

Business model in classifying financial instruments

Fair value of financial instruments

Determining relevant period of exposure with respect to the revolving facilities and facilities

undergoing restructuring at the time of the reporting date.

The measurement of the ECL for financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVTOCI is an area that

requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions, credit

behavior (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses), estimation of the amount and

timing of the future cash flows and collateral values. These estimates are driven by a number of factors,

changes which can result in different levels of allowances.

Assessment of whether credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition

and incorporation of forward-looking information in the measurement of Expected Credit Losses (ECL).

Refer to note 6 for further details.

The Group's ECL calculation are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions

regarding the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. A number of significant judgments are

also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

In determining whether its business model for managing financial assets is to hold assets in order to collect

contractual cash flows, the Group considers: 

Management’s stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in

practice;

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of

financial position cannot be derived from active markets, these are determined using a variety of valuation

techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are derived from

observable market data where possible, but where observable market data is not available, judgment is

applied to establish fair values. These judgments include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such

as volatility for longer dated derivatives and discount rates, prepayment rates and default rate assumptions

for asset backed securities. 

In making an assessment of whether a business model’s objective is to hold assets in order to collect

contractual cash flows, the Group considers at which level of its business activities such assessment

should be made. Generally, a business model is a matter of fact which can be evidenced by the way

business is managed and the information provided to management. 

The Group calculates PiT PD estimates under three scenarios, a base case, good case and bad

case. An appropriate probability weighted ECL is then calculated by assigning probabilities, based

on current market conditions, to each scenario;

Selection and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios to derive the economic inputs into

the ECL models;

Establishing segments of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL; and

Management's evaluation of the performance of the portfolio; and

Management’s strategy in terms of earning contractual interest revenues or generating capital

gains.

Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;

_______________________________________________________________________________________
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Bahrain Development Bank B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at 31 December 2023

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Impairment of financial instruments (continued)

4 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

4.1 Supplier Finance Arrangements - Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7

4.2 Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

4.3

-

-

-

-

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and must

applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial application of

IFRS 16. Earlier application is permitted and that fact must be disclosed.

The amendments will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. Early 

adoption is permitted, but will need to be disclosed.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

In addition, a requirement has been introduced to require disclosure when a liability arising from a loan

agreement is classified as non-current and the entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent on compliance

with future covenants within twelve months. 

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the

terms of a liability not impact its classification.

What is meant by a right to defer settlement;

That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period;

That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right; and

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since

initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and

available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and

analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and expert credit assessment and including forward-

looking information.

In determining whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group uses

delinquency status of accounts, expert credit judgement and relevant historical experience. The Group may

also determine that an exposure has undergone a Significant Increase in Credit Risk ("SICR") based on

particular qualitative indicators that it considers are indicative of such, and whose effect may not otherwise

be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis.

In May 2023, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial

Instruments: Disclosures to clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require

additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended

to assist users of financial statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an

entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

In September 2022, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 16 to specify the requirements that a seller-

lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the seller-

lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.

In January 2020 and October 2022, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to

specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the

Group’s consolidated financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these

standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

_______________________________________________________________________________________
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Bahrain Development Bank B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at 31 December 2023

5 NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED AND EFFECTIVE

5.1  Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8

5.2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 

5.3

5.4 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction -

Amendments to IAS 12 

The Group is currently assessing the impact of these amendments. 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts is a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts

covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 Insurance

Contracts. IFRS 17 applies to all types of insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-

insurance), regardless of the type of entities that issue them as well as to certain guarantees and financial

instruments with discretionary participation features; a few scope exceptions will apply. IFRS 17 is based on

a general model, supplemented by a specific adaptation approach for contracts with direct participation

features (the variable fee appaorach) and a simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) which

mainly applies to short duration contracts. The new standard had no impact on the Group’s consolidated

financial statements.

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality

Judgements, in which it provides guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to

accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures

that are more useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting

policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and adding guidance on how

entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.

In May 2021, the Board issued amendments to IAS 12, which narrow the scope of the initial recognition

exception under IAS 12, so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and

deductible temporary differences. 

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 8, in which it introduces a definition of ‘accounting

estimates’. The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes

in accounting policies and the correction of errors. Also, they clarify how entities use measurement

techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates.

The amendments should be applied to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest

comparative period presented. In addition, at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, a

deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability should also

be recognised for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with leases and

decommissioning obligations. 

The amendments to IAS 1 are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with

earlier application permitted. Since the amendments to the Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory

guidance on the application of the definition of material to accounting policy information, an effective date

for these amendments is not necessary. The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on

the Group.

The accounting policies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent with

those used in the preparation of the annual consolidated financial statements in previous year, except for

the adoption of the following new and amended standards and interpretation applicable to the Group, which

became effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The Group has not early

adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply

to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of

that period. Earlier application is permitted as long as this fact is disclosed. The amendments are not

expected to have a material impact on the Group. 
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5

5.5

5.6

6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

6.1 Investment in associated companies

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction –

Amendments to IAS 12

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control

over those policies.

The statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate. Any

change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been

a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes,

when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from

transactions between the Group and the associate is eliminated to the extent of the interest in the

associate.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate is charged to the statement of profit or

loss outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and non-controlling interests in the

subsidiaries of the associate. 

The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the

Group. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the

Group.

The amendments to IAS 12 Income Tax narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception, so that it no

longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences such as

leases and decommissioning liabilities. The amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated

financial statements.

International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules – Amendments to IAS 12 

The amendments to IAS 12 have been introduced in response to the OECD’s BEPS Pillar Two rules and

include: 

• A mandatory temporary exception to the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the

jurisdictional implementation of the Pillar Two model rules; and 

• Disclosure requirements for affected entities to help users of the financial statements better understand an 

entity’s exposure to Pillar Two income taxes arising from that legislation, particularly before its effective

date. 

The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognize changes in the Group’s share of net assets

of the associate since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying

amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.

The mandatory temporary exception – the use of which is required to be disclosed – applies immediately.

The remaining disclosure requirements apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023, but not for any interim periods ending on or before 31 December 2023.

The amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements as the Group is not in

scope of the Pillar Two model rules as its revenue is less than EUR 750 million/year.

NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED AND EFFECTIVE

(continued)

The Group’s investments in its associated companies are accounted for using the equity method. Under the

equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. 
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6.3 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6.4 Investment in associated companies (continued)

6.2 Property and equipment

6.2.1 Recognition and measurement

6.2.2 Subsequent measurement

6.2.3 Depreciation

System and software 

6.2.4 Reclassification to investment property

6.3

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if

appropriate.

Leases - Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term

leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and

right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

All items of property and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line

basis over the estimated useful lives of all premises and equipment, other than freehold land which is

deemed to have an indefinite life.

3 - 5 years

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an

impairment loss on its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether

there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the

Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the

associate and its carrying value, then recognises the loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

If significant parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted

for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment (calculated as the difference between the

net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised within other income in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits of the

expenditure will flow to the Group. Ongoing repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property and equipment less their estimated residual

values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term

and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the

lease term. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives of significant items of property and

equipment are as follows:

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained

investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of

significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised

in profit or loss.

When the use of a property changes from owner occupied to investment property, the property is classified

to investment property and carried at cost in line with the accounting policy as per note 6.4.

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

Impairment losses.

15 - 40 years

Furniture, fixtures, vehicles, computers and office equipment

5 years

Buildings on freehold premises
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6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6.3 Leases - Group as a lessee (continued)

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9 Employees' end of service benefits

Provisions

a) Right of use assets

The Group recognises right of use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the

underlying asset is available for use). Right of use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities. The cost of

right of use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease

payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group

is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised

right of use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and

the lease term. Right of use assets are subject to impairment. The carrying value of right-of-use assets are

recognised under premises and equipment in the consolidated statement of financial position.

b) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present

value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. In calculating the present value of lease

payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest

rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable, in this case BIBOR. After the commencement date, the

amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease

payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,

a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the

assessment to purchase the underlying asset and is recognised under other liabilities in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

Term loans

Trade receivables

Term loans are initially measured at fair value minus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently

measured at their amortised cost using the Effective Interest Rate ("EIR") method.

Investment properties are those which are held by the Group to earn rental income or for capital

appreciation or both. Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any

impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated on cost using the straight-line method at annual rates which

are intended to write off the cost of the investment property over their estimated useful lives that range from

10 to 30 years. Any gain or loss on disposal of the investment property (calculated as the difference

between the net proceed form the disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognized in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive

obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be

required to settle the obligation.

Deposits are initially measured at fair value minus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently

measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Investment property

Accounts receivable are stated at original invoice amount net of discounts and provisions for any

uncollectible amounts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no

longer probable. Bad debts are written off when there is no possibility of recovery.

Pension rights (and other social benefits) for Bahraini employees are covered by the General Organisation

for Social Insurance scheme to which employees and employers contribute monthly on a fixed-percentage-

of salaries basis. The Group's share of contributions to this scheme, which is a defined contribution scheme

under IAS 19 - Employees Benefits, is recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss.

Deposits
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6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6.9 Employees' end of service benefits (continued)

6.10 Income recognition

6.11 Dividend income

6.12 Fee and commission income

6.13 Rental income

6.14 Foreign currencies

Expatriate employees are entitled to leaving indemnities payable under the Bahraini Labour law for the

Private Sector 2012, based on length of service and final remuneration. Provision for this which is unfunded

has been made by calculating the notional liability had all employees left at the reporting date. These

charges are recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Other fee and commission expense relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as

the service is received.

Fee and commission income and related expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on a

financial asset or financial liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees paid or received that are an

integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly

attributable to the acquisition of a financial asset or financial liability.

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the EIR method. The effective interest

ratio is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the

expected life of the financial asset or financial liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the carrying

amount of the financial asset or financial liability). When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group

estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit

losses.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are generally recognised in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss.

Other fee and commission income including account servicing fees, investment management fees, sales

commission, placement fees and syndication fees are recognised as the related services are performed. If

a loan commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, then the related loan commitment

fee is recognised on a straight-line basis over the commitment.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive income is established. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rates at

the date of the transactions.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into

the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at the date on which the fair value is determined. Non-

monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the

spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into

the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on

monetary items is the difference between the amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of

the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in the foreign

currency translated at the spot exchange rate at the end of the year.

Rental income from investment property is recognised as revenue on a straight line basis over the term of

the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the

term of the lease.
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6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6.15 Cash and cash equivalents

6.16 Derivatives

6.17 Financial assets and financial liabilities

6.17.1 Recognition and initial measurement

6.17.2 Classification

-

-

-

-

The Bank's key accounting policies in compliance with IFRS 9 are summarised below:

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank enters into transactions that involve derivative financial

instruments. A derivative financial instrument is a financial contract between two parties where payment is

dependent upon movements in price in one or more underlying financial instruments, reference rate or

index. Derivative financial instruments include forward exchange contracts.

Financial assets

Forwards are contractual agreements to either buy or sell a specified currency, commodity or financial

instrument at a specific price and date in the future. Forwards are customised contracts transacted in the

over-the-counter market.

In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise

meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates

or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All “regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that

the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of

financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or

convention in the market place. 

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not

designated as at FVTPL:

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL,

transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to

present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment

basis.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as at amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL. A financial asset

is measured at amortised cost if it meets both the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual

cash flows; and

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and

Cash and cash equivalents includes notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances held with the Central

Bank and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of three months or less from the date of

acquisition that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in

the management of its short-term commitments. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost

in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6.17 Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

6.17.2 Classification (continued)

Financial assets designation at fair value through profit or loss 

Business model assessment

-

-

-

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

-

-

-

-

-

Reclassifications

Financial liabilities

6.17.3 Derecognition

Financial assets

The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its

expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered

in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Group’s stated objective for managing

the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised.

Terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset

arrangements); and

The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within

that business model) and how those risks are managed; and

The Group designated certain financial assets as at FVTPL because the assets were managed, evaluated

and reported internally on a fair value basis.

Prepayment and extension terms;

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified

asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to

cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial

asset is derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value.

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a

portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to

management. The information considered includes:

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the

Group changes its business model for managing financial assets. 

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value

basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both

to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial

recognition, which may change over the life of the financial asset. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for

the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a

particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative

costs), as well as profit margin.

Contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

Leverage features;

The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In

particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue,

realising cash flows through the sale of the assets and holding it for liquidity purposes;

Features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of interest

rates).

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as

measured at amortised cost.
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6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6.17 Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

6.17.3 Derecognition (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

-

-

Financial liabilities

6.17.4 Impairment of financial assets

6.17.5 Expected credit loss (ECL)

a) Debt investments;

b) Placements with banks and other financial institutions;

c) Islamic financing and loans to customers;

d) Letters of credit and bank guarantees; and

e) Irrevocable undrawn commitments.

6.17.6 Presentation of allowance for ECL in the consolidated statement of financial position

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the

carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration

received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or

loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial asset (in whole or in part) is derecognised where:

Allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

b) where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component (as in the case of

overdraft, letter of credit / bank guarantee limits etc.), the Bank presents a loss allowance for the approved

limit of the facility in 'other liabilities'.

The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the other financial

assets on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition, for which ECL is

measured as 12-month ECL. 12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a

financial asset that is possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled ,or

expired.

The Bank recognises ECL on the following financial assets that are not measured at fair value through

profit or loss:

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-

through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and

rewards of ownership or (b) when it has neither transferred or retained substantially all the risks

and rewards and when it no longer has control over the financial asset, but has transferred control

of the asset.

a) financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the

assets; and

Impairment of financial assets are determined using an "expected credit loss' model (“ECL”) as required

under IFRS 9. This impairment model is also applied to certain loan commitments and financial guarantees.

The allowance is based on the ECLs associated with the probability of default in the next twelve months

unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the allowance is

based on the change in the ECLs over the life of the asset. Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognized

earlier than under the previous standard.
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6 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6 Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

6.17.7 Write-offs

6.18 Non-controlling interests

7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Bahrain 3,972           4,865       

Placements with banks and other financial institutions 48,994         13,893     

         52,966       18,758 

Less: reserve with Central Bank of Bahrain (3,486)          (4,452)      

Add: allowance for expected credit losses -                                  1 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year          49,480       14,307 

Cash and balances with Central Bank 

of Bahrain (excluding reserves) 486              413          

Placements with banks and other financial institutions having

48,994         13,894     

         49,480       14,307 

8 ISLAMIC FINANCING AND LOANS TO CUSTOMERS

2023 2022
BD ’000 BD ’000

107,514     130,887 

13,333       14,073 

3,272         3,276 

2,356         2,064 

126,475 150,300

Less: expected credit losses* (13,590)        (16,266)    

112,885 134,034

Project finance - Islamic

original maturity of 90 days or less

Included in Islamic financing and loans to customers are certain facilities at zero interest rate, which are

carried at a discount of BD 10,257 thousand (31 December 2022: BD 10,575 thousand) with an

undiscounted amount of BD 48,000 thousand (31 December 2022: BD 54,000 thousand). 

Project finance - conventional

Non-controlling interests represents the portion of profit or loss and net assets in the subsidiaries not

attributable to the Bank’s equity shareholders. Any change in Group’s ownership interest in the subsidiary

that does not result in a loss of control is accounted for as an equity transaction.

Fisheries and agriculture

Other loans

* This includes credit losses of BD 7,490 thousand (31 December 2022: BD 10,661 thousand) against

Islamic financing to customers.

Refer to note 27 for further details.

Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Bank has thoroughly

explored most avenues of recovery and it is recognized thereafter that the outstanding amount of the debt

is clearly not recoverable. However, in all written-off cases, the Bank's efforts towards the recovery of the

outstanding amount continues and periodic updates are provided to the Board of Directors. If the amount to

be written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition to

the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying amount. Any subsequent recoveries are

credited to 'other income' in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
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8 ISLAMIC FINANCING AND LOANS TO CUSTOMERS (continued)

Stage 1

12-

months

ECL

Stage 2

Life time

ECL not 

credit

impaired

Stage 3

Lifetime

ECL credit-

impaired Total

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

Balance at 1st January        2,149              501          13,616       16,266 

Changes due to financial assets 
recognised in opening balances 
that have:

- transferred to 12-month ECL           147             (147)                  -                 -   

- transferred to Stage 2 (lifetime ECL not
credit-impaired)            (14)                16                  (2)               -   

- transferred to Stage 3 (lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired)            (12)               (31)                 43               -   

Net re-measurement of loss allowance           105              198            2,078         2,381 

Recoveries / write-backs          (323)             (313)           (1,286)       (1,922)

Allowance for expected credit losses - net            (97)             (277)               833            459 

Amount written offs during the year              -                   -             (3,135)       (3,135)

Balance at 31 December        2,052              224          11,314       13,590 

Stage 1

12-

months

ECL

Stage 2

Life time

ECL not 

credit

impaired

Stage 3

Lifetime

ECL credit-

impaired Total

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

Balance at 1st January        1,403              543          13,747       15,693 

Changes due to financial assets 
recognised in opening balances 
that have:
- transferred to 12-month ECL             57               (57)                  -                 -   
- transferred to Stage 2 (lifetime ECL not

credit-impaired)            (41)              176              (135)               -   
- transferred to Stage 3 (lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired)            (58)                 (9)                 67               -   
Net re-measurement of loss allowance        1,099              258            1,095         2,452 

Recoveries / write-backs          (311)             (410)           (1,146)       (1,867)

Allowance for expected credit losses - net           746               (42)              (119)            585 
Amount written offs during the year              -                   -                  (12)            (12)

Balance at 31 December        2,149              501          13,616       16,266 

Included in Islamic financing and loans to customers are certain guaranteed facilities, under Stage 1 BD

63,696 thousand (31 December 2022: BD 86,872 thousand), Stage 2 BD 2,767 thousand (31 December

2022: BD 8,048 thousand), and Stage 3 BD 17,294 thousand (31 December 2022: BD 10,906 thousand).

2022

2023

Below is the movement for expected credit losses on Islamic financing and loans to customers:
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8 ISLAMIC FINANCING AND LOANS TO CUSTOMERS (continued)

Stage 1

12-month

ECL

Stage 2

Life time

ECL not 

credit

impaired

Stage 3

Lifetime

ECL credit

impaired Total

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

     37,743                 -                    -         37,743 

14,072                  727            9,218       24,017 

34,157               3,305          21,487       58,949 

1,729                       -                 530         2,259 

6                              -                 132            138 

       2,213              318               838         3,369 

     89,920           4,350          32,205     126,475 

Less: expected credit losses       (2,052)             (224)         (11,314)     (13,590)

     87,868           4,126          20,891     112,885 

Stage 1

12-month

ECL

Stage 2

Life time

ECL not 

credit

impaired

Stage 3

Lifetime

ECL credit

impaired Total

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

43,425     -             -                    43,425 

     16,129           6,442            5,734       28,305 

     46,137           6,559          20,109       72,805 

       1,510                  1               544         2,055 

            39                 -                 236            275 

       2,108              363               964         3,435 

   109,348         13,365          27,587     150,300 

Less: expected credit losses       (2,149)             (501)         (13,616)     (16,266)

   107,199         12,864          13,971     134,034 

The contractual amount outstanding on financing assets written off by the Group as at 31 December 2023

and that are still subject to enforcement activity was BD 29,262 thousand (31 December 2022: BD 27,791

thousand).

Overdrafts

Education loans

Others

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of Islamic financing and loans to customers:

31 December 2023

SME

Others

Corporate

The fair value of the collateral consisting of cash, securities and real estate that the Group holds relating to

loans individually determined to be impaired at 31 December 2023 amounts to BD 17,575 thousand (31

December 2022: BD 13,292 thousand).

Education loans

Government

Government

31 December 2022

Overdrafts

Corporate

SME

At 31 December 2023, interest in suspense on past due loans that are credit impaired amounted to BD

1,573 thousand (31 December 2022: BD 1,336 thousand).
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8 ISLAMIC FINANCING AND LOANS TO CUSTOMERS (continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

1 January 2023    109,348         13,365          27,587     150,300 

          318                 -                    -              318 

New assets originated      23,686           1,668            9,102       34,456 

Payments and assets derecognised     (38,554)          (8,452)           (8,004)     (55,010)

Transfers to Stage 1        2,151          (2,151)                  -                 -   

Transfers to Stage 2       (3,049)           3,100                (51)               -   

Transfers to Stage 3       (3,980)          (3,180)            7,160               -   

Amounts written-off during the year              -                   -             (3,589)       (3,589)

At 31 December 2023      89,920           4,350          32,205     126,475 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

1 January 2022    129,699           5,237          27,389     162,325 

    (10,575)                 -                    -       (10,575)

New assets originated      14,044           4,770            3,291       22,105 

Payments and assets derecognised     (10,652)          (2,123)         (10,768)     (23,543)

Transfers to Stage 1        1,106          (1,106)                  -                 -   

Transfers to Stage 2       (6,252)           6,924              (672)               -   

Transfers to Stage 3       (8,022)             (337)            8,359               -   

Amounts written-off during the year              -                   -                  (12)            (12)

At 31 December 2022    109,348         13,365          27,587     150,300 

9 INVESTMENT SECURITIES

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

At fair value through profit or loss:

           7,269         7,553 

                21              23 

           7,290         7,576 

At fair value through other comprehensive income:

                22              22 

         36,812       19,526 

Sukuk*            6,097         4,524 

         42,931       24,072 

At amortized cost:

           7,235       30,692 

         57,456       62,340 

*These are sovereign exposures based in Kingdom of Bahrain, with low risk profile and fully recoverable

and hence, ECL is assumed to be Nil.

Conventional debt securities*

Loan discount

Loan discount

Conventional equities

Conventional debt securities*

Conventional equities

A reconciliation of changes in gross carrying amount by stage is as follows: 

Islamic equities
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10 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

2023 2022

Arabian Taxi Company ("ATC") * 20.00% 20.00%

21.13% 21.13%

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

Carrying amount of investment in associates

              394            383 

                  3              11 

              397            394 

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

At 1 January 5,130 10,581 

Addition to investment property                  -                58 

Transferred to MOIC                  -         (5,238)

Capital expenditure            3,113            101 

Depreciation charge for the year (231)             (372)         

           8,012         5,130 

Share of profit from associates

Ownership interest

The fair value measurement of the investment properties has been categorized as a Level 3 fair value

based on the inputs to the valuation technique used by the management. The discounted cash flows model

considers the present value of net cash flows to be generated from the property, taking into account the

expected rental growth rate, void periods, occupancy rate, lease incentive costs such as rent-free periods

and other costs not paid by tenants. The expected net cash flows are discounted using risk-adjusted

discounted rates. Among other factors, the discount rate estimation considers quality of a building and its

location, tenant credit quality and lease terms.

At 1 January

Operating and managing taxi services.

EBDA Bank ("EBDB") Providing microfinance and related 

advisory services.

 Principal activity

At 31 December

* As a 31 December 2023, the Group carried its share in Arabian Taxi Company at cost (31 December

2022: same). 

Associates are incorporated in Kingdom of Bahrain and accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December

As of 31 December 2023, the fair value of 3 buildings included in the investment properties (2022: 3

buildings) approximate their carrying values (2022: same). 
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12 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,

fixtures,

vehicles

Freehold Right of Freehold and office Work

land Use assets premises equipment in process Total

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

2023

At 1 January 2023 293      327       1,659       4,142          909              7,330       

         -              -                -   1,130          148              1,278       

Disposals          -              -                -   (470)                             -   (470)         

Transfers          -              -                -                909 (909)                           -   

At 31 December 2023 293      327       1,659       5,711          148              8,138       

At 1 January 2023          -           320        1,659           2,309                  -   4,288       

Charge for the year          -               7              -   599                              -   606          

Disposals          -              -                -   (38)                               -   (38)           

Transfers          -              -                -   -                               -                 -   

At 31 December 2023          -   327       1,659       2,870                           -   4,856       

At 31 December 2023 293      -        -          2,841          148              3,282       

  
Furniture,

fixtures,

vehicles

computers

Freehold Right of Freehold and office Work

land Use assets premises equipment in process Total

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

2022

At 1 January 2022 293              737 1,659       2,609          2,093           7,391       

         -   9                        -   346             429              784          

Disposals / write offs          -         (419)              -               (426)                  -   (845)         

Reclassification from

         -              -                -   1,613                    (1,613) -           

At 31 December 2022 293      327       1,659       4,142          909              7,330       

At 1 January 2022          -           478 1,586       2,225                           -   4,289       

Charge for the year          -   74         73            205                              -   352          

Disposals / write offs            -                -                 -   

Reclassification from

         -              -                -   156                              -   156          

At 31 December 2022          -           320        1,659           2,309                  -           4,288 

At 31 December 2022 293      7           -          1,833          909              3,042       

Additions

Depreciation:

Depreciation:

Cost:

investment properties

Additions

investment properties

Net book values:

Net book values:

Cost:
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13 OTHER ASSETS

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

Rent and other accounts receivable            5,350         6,947 

Profit / interest receivable               677            535 

Receivable related to Sitra Mall               553            542 

Receivable from Ministry of Finance and National Economy               543            417 

Prepayments and other assets            1,018         1,018 

Gross carrying amount            8,141         9,459 

Provision for impairment           (2,826)       (3,179)

Net carrying amount            5,315         6,280 

14 TERM LOANS

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

Saudi Fund for Development            6,019         6,502 

Arab Fund for Economic and Social Development          19,340       21,301 

         25,359       27,803 

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

         27,803       34,803 

           4,524               -   

          (6,968)       (7,000)

         25,359       27,803 

Saudi Fund for Development

Arab Fund for Economic and Social Development 

During 2012, the Bank obtained a loan of SAR 100 million from Saudi Fund for Development. The facility

has been fully availed and is repayable semi-annually over 25 years (5 years grace period for principal) at

an interest rate of 2.0%. The Ministry of Finance is a guarantor to the loan.

Addition of term loan

Repayment of loans

At 31 December

During 2013, the Bank had obtained a loan of USD 30 million from Arab Fund for Economic and Social

Development (AFESD). The facility has been fully availed and is repayable semi-annually over 10 years (3

years grace period for principal) at an interest rate of 3.0%. During 2014, the Bank had obtained a second

loan of USD 50 million from AFESD. The facility has been fully availed and is repayable semi-annually over

10 years (3 years grace period for principal) at an interest rate of 3.0%. During 2016, the Bank had

obtained a third loan of USD 50 million from AFESD. The facility has been fully availed and is repayable

semi-annually over 10 years (3 years grace period for principal) at an interest rate of 3.0%. During the year

ended 31 December 2021, Arab Fund had allowed an interim grace period for one year as concessionary

measure in response of COVID-19 pandemic.

At 1 January

The movement of the term loans during the year is as follows:
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15 DEPOSITS

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

         23,456               -   

Deposits from non-banks 122,452 132,863

145,908 132,863

16 SHARE CAPITAL

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

Authorized:

100 million (2022: 100 million) shares of BD 1 each        100,000     100,000 

Issued and fully paid-up:

63.7 million (2022: 63.7 million) shares of BD 1 each          63,669       63,669 

17 STATUTORY RESERVE 

18 ISLAMIC FINANCING AND INTEREST INCOME 

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

3,712           4,955       

317              938          

2,874           1,887       

1,494           286          

 
           8,397         8,066 

19 ISLAMIC FINANCING AND INTEREST EXPENSE

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

Interest on term loans 724              852          

Interest on deposits from non-banks 149              91            

Profit on deposits from Islamic banks 308              4              

Interest on deposits from conventional banks 88                3              

           1,269            950 

Deposits from banks

In accordance with the provisions of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and the Bank’s articles of

association, an amount equivalent to 10% of the net profit for the year is transferred to the statutory

reserve. The Bank may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve totals 50% of the

paid up share capital. This reserve is not distributable, but can be utilised for the purposes of a distribution

in such circumstances as stipulated in the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and following the approval

of the CBB. No such transfers have been made during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, as

the Bank is having accumulated losses.

Profit on Islamic financing

Included in the deposits, a deposit with zero interest rate provided by Ministry of Finance and National

Economy and carried at a discount of BD 9,825 thousand (31 December 2022: BD 10,418 thousand) while

the undiscounted amount is BD 63,000 thousand (31 December 2022: BD 63,000 thousand).

Profit and interest on placements

Deposits from customers include BD 867 thousand (31 December 2022: BD 676 thousand) kept as margin

deposits against financings provided.

Interest on conventional loans

Profit and interest on securities

_______________________________________________________________________________________

35
# 



Bahrain Development Bank B.S.C. (c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at 31 December 2023

20 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

On Islamic financing and loans to customers 321              273          

On contingent liabilities 59                48            

380              321          

21 ALLOWANCE FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

Placements with banks and other financial institutions (note 7)                  (1)              (2)

Islamic financing and loans to customers (note 8) 459              585          

Other assets (note 13) (353)                          48 

Contingent liabilities and commitments (note 23)                 31              16 

136              647          

22 INVESTMENT (LOSS) / INCOME

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

Changes in fair value of investments classified as FVTPL (474)             165          

Dividend income                 50 229          

(424)             394          

23

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

818              1,529       

376              299          

           1,194         1,828 

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit * 2,418           1,203       

Commitment to invest in equity ** 1,063           1,253       

                 -              311 

           3,481         2,767 

4,675           4,595       

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit are the Islamic financing and loans, which have been approved

by the Bank but have not been disbursed as of the reporting date.

Letters of credit *

Details of contingent liabilities and commitments are given below:

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

* The Bank carries an allowance of ECL of BD 104 thousand (31 December 2022: BD 73 thousand) against

these off-balance sheet items which is classified under other liabilities.

Commitments:

Capital expenditure

The Bank issues letters of credit and guarantees to its existing customers. These instruments commit the

Bank to make payments on behalf of customers in the event of a specific act, generally related to the import

of goods.

Letters of guarantee *

Contingent liabilities:
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23

24 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

-

-

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (continued)

In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability, the

principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

Term loans obtained by the Bank are from Development Funds in Kuwait and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

There is no secondary market for such loans which are at lower than market rates due to the nature of

these loans. The Bank has estimated that its financing rates and terms are comparable to that of the

objectives of other similar development banks in the region and accordingly believes the carrying value of

term loans obtained are a close approximation of their fair values.

As at 31 December 2023, the Bank had an outstanding import bill of collection amounting to BD Nil (2022:

BD 125 thousand) from remitting banks that are pending collection from customers to make the remittance.

The Bank manages these collections in a fiduciary capacity on behalf its customers.

The valuation technique for Level 2 financial assets is arrived on the basis of the market multiples approach

and discounted cash flows. The key inputs used include a range of weighted average cost of capital used

for discounting cash flows, discount for lack of marketability, control premium etc.

Underlying the definition of fair value is a presumption that an enterprise is a going concern without any

intention or need to liquidate, curtail materially the scale of its operations or undertake a transaction on

adverse terms.

Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.

derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using quoted market prices in active

markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are

considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly

observable from market data.

In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on

the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

There is no change in the valuation techniques used for valuation of investments during the year as

compared to the year ended 31 December 2022.

Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes instruments

where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on market observable data.

The fair value of deposits approximates the carrying value as at the reporting date given their short term

nature.

As at 31 December 2023, the Bank had an outstanding loan exposure of BD 9,137 thousand (2022: BD

9,137 thousand), which is managed in a fiduciary capacity on behalf of another entity, and is not included in

the consolidated financial statements. 

** This represents the Bank's commitment to invest a 10% equity portion in Al-Waha Venture Capital Fund

established with a total value of USD 100 million (equivalent BD 37.7 million). During the year, the Bank

paid BD 190 thousand (2022: BD 502 thousand) toward this commitment. The Net Asset Value (NAV)

based on the latest financial information of the Fund, as at reporting date was BD 35,162 thousand (31

December 2022: BD 36,420 thousand). 

The Group measures fair values of financial instruments using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects

the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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24 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Total fair 

value

Total 

carrying 

value
BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

31 December 2023

Investment securities - equity            -   21            7,291          7,312           7,312       

Investment securities - debt 42,909               -                   -   42,909         42,909     

31 December 2022

Investment securities - equity            -   23            7,575          7,598           7,598       

Investment securities - debt 24,050               -                   -   24,050         24,050     

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

At beginning of the year 7,575           6,957       

Changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (474)             165          

Additions during the year               200 503          

Redemptions made during the year                (10)            (50)

At end of the year            7,291         7,575 

Sensitivity analysis

The potential effect of using reasonable possible alternative assumptions for fair valuing the investments at

FVTPL are summarised below: 

The Bank has outstanding forward forex contracts to buy USD, BD and SAR from Central Bank of Bahrain

("CBB") and other local banks with a nominal value of BD 12,072 thousand (2022: BD 27,672 thousand)

with tenors of one year and less. 

The table below analyses financial instruments, measured at fair value as at both reporting dates, in the fair

value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised. The fair values of financial assets

and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their carrying values as at the reporting dates. 

Below is the reconciliation of Level 3 financial assets carried at fair value:

There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

FVTPL investments comprises investments in private equity entities and funds. The main principles,

estimates and assumptions adopted to arrive at fair value include estimated future cash flows which have

been provided by the management of the investee companies but have been reviewed for reasonableness

by the Group and the external valuer. Cash flows have been projected for an initial period of five years or

over the project life in certain cases and then a terminal value has been estimated at a growth rate of 2% to

3% (2022: same).

Financial assets 

measured at fair value:

The bank uses various valuation techniques such as discounted cash flows, market multiples and adjusted

net assets value to arrive at the fair value of Level 3 financial assets. The key inputs used are discount rate

and growth rate, price earning multiple and net assets value. The reasonable potential shift in any of the

above mentioned inputs will not have any significant effect on the consolidated statement of profit and loss.
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24 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Fair value 

at 31 

December 

2023

BD '000

Impact on 

profit or 

loss

BD '000

Discount rate +/- 0.5% (61) / 67

Growth rate +/- 0.5% 42 / (38)

Adjusted Net Assets Value NAV 2,599          +/- 5% (68) / 68

Fair value 

at 31 

December 

2022

BD '000

Reasonable 

possible shift 

+/- (in any 

input)

Impact on 

profit or 

loss

BD '000

Discount rate +/- 0.5% (61) / 67

Growth rate +/- 0.5% 42 / (38)

Adjusted Net Assets Value NAV 4,862          +/- 5% (68) / 68

25

Total

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

31 December 2023

Investment in associated companies                  -                  397             397 

Other assets                  -                  590             590 

Deposits                  -           114,982      114,982 

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

31 December 2022

Islamic financing and loans to customers                   1                   -                   1 

Investment in associated companies                  -                  394             394 

Other assets                  -                  417             417 

Deposits                  -           127,143      127,143 

Shareholders

and related 

companies

Directors and 

key 

management 

personnel

Directors and 

key 

management 

personnel

Shareholders

and related 

companies

Discounted cash flow    

Total

2,364          

Discounted cash flow    2,714          

Valuation technique used

Key unobservable 

inputs

The Group enters into transactions with related parties which comprise major shareholders, associates,

directors, senior management and entities controlled jointly or significantly influenced by such related

parties in the ordinary course of business at agreed rates. Amounts due from related parties are unsecured.

The year end balances in respect of related parties included in the consolidated statement of financial

position are as follows:

Valuation technique used

Key unobservable 

inputs

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Reasonable 

possible 

shift +/- (in 

any input)
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25

Total

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

2023

Share of profit for associated companies                  -                      3                 3 

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

2022

Islamic financing and interest income                 28                   -                 28 

Islamic financing and interest expense                  -                    22               22 

Share of profit for associated companies                  -                    11               11 

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

Salary and short-term employee benefits            1,132         1,089 

Termination benefits               158            184 

Board remuneration and sitting fees               106            117 

           1,396         1,390 

26

a) Organizational structure

b) Board of Directors 

Directors and 

key 

management 

personnel

Shareholders

and related 

companies

Directors and 

key 

management 

personnel

Shareholders

and related 

companies Total

The Board of Directors ("BOD") is responsible for the overall direction, supervision and control of the Bank.

Oversight of the day-to-day management of the Bank is conducted by the BOD committees, the Chairman

and the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"). The BOD has overall responsibility for the Bank including

approving and overseeing the implementation of its strategic objectives, risk strategy, corporate

governance and corporate values within the agreed framework in accordance with relevant statutory and

regulatory structures. The BOD currently comprises eight members.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Compensation of key management personnel is as follows:

The transactions with related parties included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss are as follows:

A cohesive organizational structure is established within the Bank in order to identify, assess, monitor, and

mitigate risks. 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

Risk is inherent in the Bank's activities but is managed through a process of ongoing identification,

measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. In the course of its regular business,

the Bank is exposed to multiple risks notably credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, operational risk and other

risks like compliance risk, strategic risks and reputational risks. A well-established risk governance and

ownership structure ensures oversight and accountability of the effective management of risk at the Bank.

The Bank’s risk governance is manifested in a set of established policies, procedures and controls through

which the existing organizational structure meets its strategic targets. This philosophy revolves around the

knowledge of various risks and their willingness to accept the same commensurating with their risk appetite

and strategic plan approved by the Board of Directors. 

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has not recorded ECL towards amounts owed by

related parties (2022: nil). 
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26

c) Audit & Governance Committee of the board

d) Nomination & Remuneration Committee of the board

e) Investment & Credit Committee of the Board

g) Executive Management

h) Management Executive Committee 

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Investment & Credit Committee ("ICC") comprises four members of the management. The Committee

has overall responsibility of setting the criteria for managing credit and investment risks and oversee the

investment and credit strategies and objectives of the Bank. The Committee assists the Board of Directors

in managing credit risk and reviews internal credit policies, grants approvals for credit and investment

facilities in addition to reviewing the quality and performance of the Bank's lending portfolio and investment

in line with the agreed risk appetite and best credit risk management practices.

The Risk Executive Committee ("REC") comprises five members of the management and has the primary

responsibility of overseeing the Bank’s activities in managing credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk,

operational risk, legal risk and other risks. REC has to ensure that the Bank has adequate risk

management framework, policies, procedures and processes in place in order to identify, measure,

monitor, mitigate and manage risks across all of its operations. 

f) Risk Committee of the Board

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee ("NRC") comprises three members of the BOD (including the

Chairman) and the Head of Legal is the committee's Secretary. NRC has the overall responsibility of

setting the criteria and processes for identification of candidates for the Board level committees and senior

management. The Committee also assists the Board of Directors in establishing a fair and transparent

process for the remuneration of directors, other Board Committees and the Chief Executive Officer and of

the Executive Management. The Committee approves and oversees reward design and ensures that the

reward is appropriate and consistent with the Bank's culture, business and risk strategy, performance as

well as with any legal or regulatory requirements. NRC also overseas the Bank's HR policies and rewards

policy framework, corporate governance practices.

In order to fulfil its responsibilities, the Committee has appointed other Sub-Committees and delegated

specific tasks and adequate powers and authorities for effectively and efficiently carrying out the

responsibilities assigned to them. The composition, guiding principles and detailed roles and

responsibilities of MEC are covered in the MEC’s charter. 

i) Risk Executive Committee 

The Risk Committee ("RC") comprises three members of the BOD. The Committee has overall

responsibility of overseeing the Bank’s enterprise risk management framework, approach and pertinent

policies. The Committee recommends to the Board, guidelines in relation to the Bank’s current and

potential future risk exposures and risk strategy, determination of risk appetite including risk limits and

tolerance levels as well as the Bank’s capital and liquidity strategy.

Executive Management is responsible for the day to day operations towards achieving the strategic goals

within the pre-defined risk appetite and approved strategy as a whole.

The Management Executive Committee ("MEC") comprises ten members of the management and is a

senior management level committee that has been entrusted with the role of supporting the CEO to

determine and implement the Bank's strategic plan as approved by the BOD. The responsibilities of MEC

include approving and monitoring the Bank’s various business activities in accordance with the strategic

plan approved by the Board.

The Audit & Governance Committee ("AGC") comprises three members of the Board and the Head of

Legal is the AGC's Secretary. This AGC is principally responsible for reviewing the internal audit program

and assist the Board in carrying out its duties regarding the integrity of the Bank's financial reporting

system, adequacy of the Bank's internal control and risk management processes, to oversee the external

and internal audit functions, and the Bank's compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
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j) Asset and Liability Committee

k) Risk management 

l) Legal Department

m) Internal Audit Department

n) Treasury Department

o) Risk Measurement and Reporting Systems

p) Risk Mitigation

The Bank has engaged a panel of external legal counsels to handle all legal cases initiated for recovery of

difficult loan cases. The progress and outcomes on such cases are monitored by the Head of Legal. 

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Assets and Liabilities Committee (“ALCO”) comprises four members of the manaagement and is

mainly responsible for defining long-term strategic plans and short-term tactical initiatives for directing asset

and liability allocation prudently for the achievement of the Bank’s strategic goals. ALCO monitors the

Bank’s liquidity and market risks and the Bank’s risk profile in the context of economic developments and

market fluctuations, to ensure that the Bank’s ongoing activities are compatible with the risk / reward

guidelines approved by the Delegated Approval Authority / Board.

Risk Management Department is an independent function responsible for the preparation, implementation

and updating the policies and procedures within the framework of the Bank's strategy and in line with the

guidelines of the CBB. They are also responsible for the identification and continuous evaluation of all

significant risks, design and implementation of appropriate internal controls to mitigate the risks and the

processes involved in the remedial function. The risk management department is overseen by the Chief

Risk Officer.

The Treasury Department is responsible for the day to day operations necessary to fund banking activities

and implement ALCO’s strategies in managing / optimizing interest rate and liquidity risks.

Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily performed based on the approved limits and the strong internal

control structures established by the Board. The limits reflect the business strategy and the market

environment in which the Bank operates as well as the level of risk that the Bank is willing to accept.

Risk Management processes are audited annually by Internal Audit, which examines the adequacy of the

controls in place in addition to compliance with the policies by the respective departments. The internal audit

results are discussed with the MEC and the findings, together with recommendations, to mitigate the

findings are presented to the Audit & Governance Committee of the Board. 

Quarterly updates are provided to the BOD and on a monthly basis to all other members of the

management on the utilization of market limits, proprietary investments, liquidity and other developments. 

Strict assessment processes are factored during the review and approval processes. In addition, the Bank

monitors and measures the overall risk bearing capacity in relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all

risk types and activities. Specifically tailored risk reports are prepared and distributed to ensure that all

business divisions have access to extensive, necessary and up-to-date information. 

The various risks to which the Group is exposed and how the Group manages them is discussed in the

notes below.

Significant risk mitigation activities are focused in the credit area. The risk mitigation process comprises of

an appropriate and adequate structure for the credit facilities at the initial stage followed by ongoing and

regular monitoring, enforceable documentation and collateral.
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27 CREDIT RISK

27.1 Credit risk

27.2 Significant Increase In Credit Risk (SICR)

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument

fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s loans and Islamic financing

to customers, placements and debt securities.

Stage 3: for credit-impaired financial instruments, the Bank recognises the lifetime ECL. A customer is

classified under Stage 3 based on a default identification process i.e. Days Past Due (DPD) of 90 days or

more.

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis,

evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is core

to the banking business, and these risks are an inevitable consequence of participating in financial markets.

The Group's aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimize

potential adverse effects on the Bank’s financial performance.

Credit risk is considered to be the most significant and pervasive risk for the Bank. The Bank takes on

exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that the counter-party to a financial transaction will fail to discharge

an obligation causing the Bank to incur a financial loss. Credit risk arises principally from financing (credit

facilities provided to customers), deposits held with other banks and investments made in debt type

instruments. Further, there is credit risk in certain off-balance sheet financial instruments, including

guarantees relating to the purchase and sale of foreign currencies, letters of credit, acceptances and

commitments to extend the credit. Credit risk monitoring and control is performed by the Credit Risk

Management Unit (CRMU) which sets parameters and thresholds for the Bank's financing activities.

Risk management is performed by the Credit Risk Management Unit under policies approved by the Board

of Directors. The Credit Risk Management Unit identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-operation

with the Bank's operating units. The most important types of risks identified by the Bank are credit risk,

liquidity risk and market risk. Market risk includes currency risk, profit rate risk, and price risk.

The Group's risk management policies, procedures and systems are designed to identify and analyze these

risks and to set appropriate risk mitigants and controls. The Bank reviews its risk management policies and

systems on an ongoing basis to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practices.

To determine whether credit risk has significantly increased since initial recognition, the Group compares

the risk of default at the assessment date with the risk of default at initial recognition. This assessment is to

be carried out at each assessment date.

Using its expert credit judgment and, where possible, relevant historical experience, the Bank may

determine that an exposure has undergone a significant increase in credit risk based on particular

qualitative indicators that it considers are indicative of such an increase and whose effect may not otherwise

be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis. The Bank monitors the effectiveness of the

criterion used to identify SICR by regular reviews and validations.

The Bank classifies its financial instruments into Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, based on the applied

methodology, as described below:

Stage 1: for financial instruments where there has not been a SICR since initial recognition and that are not

credit-impaired on origination, the Bank recognises an allowance based on the 12-month ECL. All accounts

at origination are classified as Stage 1.

Stage 2: for financial instruments where there has been a SICR since initial recognition but are not credit-

impaired, the Bank recognises an allowance for the lifetime ECL for all financings and loans categorised in

this stage based on the actual / expected maturity profile including restructuring or rescheduling of facilities. 
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27.3 Measurement of ECL

a)

b)

c)

d)

a) Probability of Default (PD);

b) Loss Given Default (LGD); and

c) Exposure At Default (EAD).

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. It is measured as follows:

Type of financial instrument Measurement basis

Financial assets that are not credit-impaired 

at the reporting date

As the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the

difference between the cash flows due to the entity in

accordance with the contract and the cash flows that

the Bank expects to receive).

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at 

the reporting date

As the difference between the gross carrying amount

and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

Irrevocable undrawn commitments As the present value of the difference between the

contractual cash flows that are due to the Bank if the

commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that

the Bank expects to receive.

Letters of credit and bank guarantees As the expected payments to reimburse the holder

less any amounts that the Bank expects to recover.

The Bank measures an ECL at an individual instrument level taking into account the projected cash flows,

Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD), Credit Conversation Factor (CCF) and discount rate.

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:

These parameters are generally derived from internally developed statistical models and other historical

data. They are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as described above.

Linear Regression has been used to develop macroeconomic models specific to portfolios of the bank.

Department variable has been the default rate specific to portfolios and independent variables considered

are Macro variables. 

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Bank estimates LGD parameters based on

the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models consider the

structure, collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is

integral to the financial asset. 

The Modelling methodology adopted by the Bank involved a systematic approach with statistically rigorous

analyses' to arrive at the final model for each of the portfolios. The underlying development process

involved steps of data transformation, variable reduction, model performance, check for variable collinearity

etc.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank derives the EAD from the

current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the

contract including amortization. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount. For undrawn

commitments, letters of credit and bank guarantees, the EAD represents the potential future amounts that

may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical observations and forward-looking

forecasts. 

The period of exposure limits the period over which possible defaults are considered and thus affects the

determination of PDs and measurement of ECLs (especially for Stage 2 accounts with lifetime ECL).
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27.3 Measurement of ECL (continued)

27.4 Generating the term structure of PD

27.5 Restructured financial assets

In project finance, there could be delays in implementation of the project and in some cases, the projects

may take a longer time to generate surplus. The Bank has in such cases, where there is a genuine need

and commitment from the customer, approved a restructuring.

Subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for financial assets for which credit risk has not significantly

increased, the Bank measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period

(including any borrower's extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for risk

management purposes, the Bank considers a longer period. The maximum contractual period extends to

the date at which the Bank has the right to require repayment of an advance or terminate a loan

commitment or guarantee.

For facilities that include both a drawn and an undrawn commitment component, the Bank measures ECL

over a period longer than the maximum contractual period if the Bank's contractual ability to demand

repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment does not limit the Bank's exposure to credit losses to the

contractual notice period. These facilities do not have a fixed term or repayment structure and are managed

on a collective basis. The Bank can cancel them with immediate effect but this contractual right is not

enforced in the normal day-to-day management but only when the Bank becomes aware of an increase in

credit risk at the facility level. This longer period is estimated taking into account the credit risk management

actions that the Bank expects to take and that serve to mitigate ECL. These include a reduction in limits,

cancellation of the facility and / or turning the outstanding balance into a loan with fixed repayment terms.

The Bank collects performance and default information about its credit risk exposures analyzed by type of

product and borrower as well as by credit risk grading. 

The Bank employs statistical models to analyze the data collected and generate estimates of the remaining

lifetime PD of exposures and how these are expected to change as a result of the passage of time.

This analysis includes the identification and calibration of relationships between changes in default rates

and macro-economic factors as well as in-depth analysis of the impact of certain other factors (e.g.

forbearance experience) on the risk of default. For most exposures, key macro-economic indicators include:

gross domestic product / economic growth, interest rates, unemployment rates and inflation. 

Based on consideration of a variety of external actual and forecast information, the Bank formulates a 'base

case' view of the future direction of relevant economic variables as well as a representative range of other

possible forecast scenarios (i.e. on incorporation of forward-looking information). The Bank then uses these

forecasts to adjust its estimates of PDs.

For the financing portfolio, through the yearly review of the corporate portfolio, the Bank observes yearly

performances to compute a count based PD over the one year horizon for the past 5 years. 

PDs for each segment are measured using observed default estimation and PD is calculated based on a

Days Past Due (DPD) bucket level for each segment separately. Under this analysis, the delinquency status

of accounts is tracked at an interval of one year with a moving month cycle. A minimum of 5 year DPD data

is considered. 

Where possible, the Group seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This may

involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms

have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured using the original effective interest rate as calculated

before the modification of terms and the loan is no longer considered past due. Management continuously

reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur.

Maximum tenor of the facility post restructuring does not exceed 15 years from the first disbursement of the

facility. As has been prescribed by the CBB, restructured accounts are transferred to Stage 2 directly for a

minimum period of 12 months.
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27 CREDIT RISK (continued)

27.6 Credit-impaired financial assets

27.7 Definition of ‘Default’ and ‘Cure’

a) 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

27.8 Incorporation of forward looking assumptions

i) Limits and concentrations 

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or have

similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly

affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity

of the Bank’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographic location.

Limits are assigned for each individual counterparty group and for each industrial segment. The Bank also

monitors credit exposures, and continually assesses the creditworthiness of counterparties to the

transactions. In addition, the Bank obtains security, where appropriate, enters into master netting

agreements and collateral arrangements with counterparties, and limits the duration of exposures.

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-

impaired. A financial asset is 'credit-impaired' when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on

the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

The Bank's definition of default is aligned with regulatory guidelines and internal Credit Risk Management

practices. Defaulted assets will fall under the Stage 3. In general, a counterparty is considered in default

and hence a relevant financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired if, and only if, there is

objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition

of the asset (a 'loss event') and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows

of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. It may not be possible to

identify a single, discrete event that caused the impairment; rather the combined effect of several events

may have caused the expected credit losses as a result of future events, no matter how likely, are not

recognised. Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable

data that comes to the attention of the holder of the asset. The following are certain indicators to identify the

impairment of assets (indicators are not necessarily to be observed on an individual basis):

deterioration in the value of security and likelihood of successfully realising it.

In general, counterparties with facilities exceeding 90 days past dues are considered in default.

A financial instrument is considered as ‘cured’ and therefore re-classified out of Stage 3 when none of the

default criteria have been present for at least twelve consecutive months. The decision whether to classify

an asset as Stage 2 or Stage 1 once cured depends on the updated credit review, at the time of the cure,

and whether this indicates there has been a significant increase in credit risk compared to initial recognition.

The Bank incorporates forward-looking assumptions into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of

an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. The Bank

annually sources macro-economic forecast data for various variables from many databases including the

International Monetary Fund (IMF) database for Bahrain, Bloomberg, Reuters and World Bank.

Macro-economic variables are checked for correlation with the PD for the past five years and only those

variables for which the movement can be explained are used. Management judgment is exercised when

assessing the macroeconomic variables.

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the obligor;

material breach of facility covenants, conditions and contract (subject to management discretion);

grant to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider except for economic

or legal reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty;

imminent bankruptcy or other financial reorganization of the borrower;

significant downgrading in credit rating by an external credit rating agency;

disappearance of an active market because of financial difficulties;

presence of past due contractual payments of either principal or profit; and
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27 CREDIT RISK (continued)

27.8 Incorporation of forward looking assumptions (continued)

i) Limits and concentrations  (continued)

2023 2022
BD ’000 BD ’000

3,737         4,787         

Placements with banks and other financial institutions 48,994       13,893       

112,885     134,034     

Investment securities 50,166       54,764       

5,033         5,897         

220,815     213,375     

1,194         1,828         

2,418         1,203         

3,612         3,031         

224,427     216,406     

2023 2022
BD ’000 BD ’000

     102,897        73,444 

       38,995        44,489 

       24,322        32,362 

         9,368        11,062 

         9,469          9,342 

         6,271          5,851 

         4,494          5,451 

       28,611        34,405 

     224,427      216,406 

iii) External credit assessment

Trading and manufacturing

Education and health

Hospitality, media and transportation

iv) Concentration of credit risk

Fisheries, agriculture and dairy

Others

Food processing

Since the Group's operations are restricted only to the Kingdom of Bahrain, it is primarily effected by the

changes in the economic and other conditions prevailing in the Kingdom of Bahrain. 

Industry sector

Banks and financial institutions

Maximum credit risk exposure

Government

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the facility structure and the

associated credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of 

collateral and valuation parameters. The main types of collateral obtained are cash margin, bank

guarantees and real estate title deeds. 

v) Collateral and other credit enhancements

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk as at the reporting date.

The Bank does not use any external credit assessment institutions and the risk rating for the exposures are

based on the internal credit framework and policy guidelines of the Bank.

ii) Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral 

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Bank’s policies and procedures include specific

guidelines to focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are

controlled and managed accordingly.

Balances with Central Bank of Bahrain

Islamic financing and loans to customers 

Other assets

Contingent liabilities

Commitments
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27 CREDIT RISK (continued)

27.8 Incorporation of forward looking assumptions (continued)

Expected 

Credit 

Loss

Carrying 

Amount

Guarantee 

Available

BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Project finance - Islamic       23,231          6,822       16,409         17,575           2,870 

Project finance - conventional         7,606          3,962         3,644                 -             2,790 

Fisheries and agriculture            838                -              838                 -                838 

Other loans - overdtafts            530             530               -                   -                   -   

Total       32,205        11,314       20,891         17,575           6,498 

Expected 

Credit Loss

Carrying 

Amount

Guarantee 

Available

BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Project finance - Islamic       22,768          9,864       12,904         13,292           2,908 

Project finance - conventional         3,311          3,215              96                 -                   -   

Fisheries and agriculture            964                -              964                 -                964 

Other loans - overdtafts            544             537                7                 -                   -   

Total       27,587        13,616       13,971         13,292           3,872 

2023 2022
BD ’000 BD ’000

Islamic financing and loans to customers 2,180 6,480

2023

2022

v) Collateral and other credit enhancements (continued)

Gross 

Exposures

Fair Value 

of Collateral 

Held

Gross 

Exposures

Fair Value of 

Collateral 

Held

vi) Carrying amount per class of financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated 

The Group sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to

the borrower’s financial difficulties, rather than taking possession or to otherwise enforce collection of

collateral. The Group considers a loan forborne when such concessions or modifications are provided as a

result of the borrower’s present or expected financial difficulties and the Group would not have agreed to

them if the borrower had been financially healthy. The table below shows the carrying amount for

renegotiated financial assets during the year.

Market value of collateral is closely monitored by the Bank in addition to requesting additional collateral in

accordance with the underlying agreement and evaluation of the adequacy of the allowance for impairment /

ECL. 

It is the Bank’s policy to normally dispose off repossessed collateral in an orderly fashion after due notice

has been provided to the defaulting customer. The proceeds are used to reduce or settle the outstanding

claim. The Bank did not occupy repossessed properties for its own business use, as at the reporting date.

The Group holds collateral and other credit enhancements against certain of its credit exposures. The

Group closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it becomes

more likely that the Group will take possession of the collateral to mitigate potential credit losses. Financial

assets that are credit-impaired and related collateral held in order to mitigate potential losses are shown

below:
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27.8 Incorporation of forward looking assumptions (continued)

Stage 1

12-months

ECL

Stage 2

Life time

ECL not 

credit

impaired

Stage 3

Lifetime

ECL credit

impaired Total

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

       48,994               -                   -           48,994 

       48,994               -                   -           48,994 

Islamic financing and loans to customers

       37,743               -                   -           37,743 

       14,072            727           9,218         24,017 

       34,157         3,305         21,487         58,949 

               -                 -                   -                   -   

         1,729               -                530           2,259 

                6               -                132              138 

         2,213            318              838           3,369               -   

       89,920         4,350         32,205       126,475 

        (2,052)          (224)        (11,314)        (13,590)

       87,868         4,126         20,891       112,885 

Contingent liabilities and commitments

         1,194               -                   -             1,194 

         2,418               -                   -             2,418 

           (104)               -                   -               (104)

         3,508               -                   -             3,508 

Other assets               27              19           3,018           3,064 

               -                (5)          (2,821)          (2,826)

              27              14              197              238 

Placement with banks and other 

financial institutions

Education loans

Overdrafts

Others

Less: expected credit losses

Small business

SME

Letters of credit and bank guarantees

Less: expected credit losses

Undrawn commitments

Less: expected credit losses

Corporate

31 December 2023

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised

cost. Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying

amounts. 

vii) Credit quality per class of financial assets 

Government
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27 CREDIT RISK (continued)

27.8 Incorporation of forward looking assumptions (continued)

Stage 1

12-months

ECL

Stage 2

Life time

ECL not 

credit

impaired

Stage 3

Lifetime

ECL credit

impaired Total

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

       13,894               -                   -           13,894 
               (1)               -                   -                   (1)

       13,893               -                   -           13,893 

Islamic financing and loans to customers

       43,425               -                   -           43,425 

       16,129         6,442           5,734         28,305 

       46,137         6,559         20,109         72,805 

         1,510                1              544           2,055 

              39               -                236              275 

         2,108            363              964           3,435 

       65,923       13,365         27,587       150,300 

        (2,149)          (501)        (13,616)        (16,266)

       63,774       12,864         13,971       134,034 

Contingent liabilities and commitments

         1,828               -                   -             1,828 

         1,203               -                   -             1,203 

Capital expenditure             311               -                   -                311 

             (73)               -                   -                 (73)

         3,269               -                   -             3,269 

Other assets                -                  5           3,186           3,191 

               -                (3)          (3,176)          (3,179)

               -                  2                10                12 

28 MARKET RISK

Overdrafts

vii) Credit quality per class of financial assets (continued)

31 December 2022

Placement with banks and other 

financial institutions

Less: expected credit losses

Corporate

SME

Letters of credit and bank guarantees

Undrawn commitments

Less: expected credit losses

Education loans

Others

Less: expected credit losses

Less: expected credit losses

i) Interest rate risk 

Market risk is the risk of loss attributable to adverse changes in the values of financial instruments, whether

on or off-balance sheet, as a result of changes in market rates (such as interest rates and foreign exchange

rates) or price.

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes to the interest rates will affect future profitability or

the fair values of the financial instruments. The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk due to mismatches of

interest rate repricing of assets and liabilities. Positions are monitored periodically to ensure that this is

maintained within the established limits. 

Government
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28 MARKET RISK (continued)

Change 

in basis 

points

Change 

in basis 

points

2023 2022 2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

Bahraini Dinars +100 822 706           -100 (822) (706)          

Kuwaiti Dinars +100 6                6 -100 (6)                (6)

Saudi Riyals +100 (5) (3)             -100 5 3                

United States Dollars +100 (85) (208)         -100 85 208            

2023 2022

Kuwaiti Dinars -                10              

US Dollars (24,483)     7,832         

Euro 36              6                

GBP 69              6                

Saudi Riyals (188)          (408)          

UAE Dirhams 3                (18)            

29 EQUITY PRICE RISK

The Bank views the Bahraini Dinar as its functional currency. In the opinion of the Bank's management, the

currency risk for any position held in US Dollar is insignificant since the Bahraini Dinar is pegged to the US

Dollar. The Bank had the following significant net open exposures denominated in foreign currencies as of

31 December 2023 and 2022:

i) Interest rate risk (continued)

The Bank primarily deals with 4 currencies, namely Bahraini Dinars, Kuwaiti Dinars, Saudi Riyals and United

States Dollars, in which the Bank's interest sensitive financial instruments are denominated predominantly.

The following table demonstrates the Bank's sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates,

with all other variables held constant.

Equivalent long / (short)

Impact of change on net 

interest Income

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities or managed funds decrease as a result of changes

in the corresponding value of equity indices or the value of individual equity stocks. The Group manages

this risk through diversification of investments in terms of geographical distribution and industry

concentration.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the effect on profit or loss (as a result of a change in the fair

value of equity instruments held as FVTPL) due to a reasonably possible change (i.e. +/-5%) in the value of

equity investments, with all other variables held constant is BD 365 thousand (31 December 2022: BD 379

thousand). 

iii) Derivatives 

A derivative is a financial contract between two parties where payments are dependent upon movements in

the price of one or more underlying financial instrument, reference rate or index. In the ordinary course of

business, the Group enters into forex forward contracts. The use of derivatives is governed by the Group's

policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Group enters into derivative contracts for the purpose of

reducing risks from potential movements in foreign exchange rates. The Group has entered into forex

forward contracts with the Central Bank of Bahrain and other local banks with a nominal value of BD 12,072

thousand (31 December 2022: BD 27,672 thousand). The positive and negative fair values on derivative

contracts as at 31 December 2023 was BD 24 thousand (31 December 2022: BD 303 thousand) and BD Nil

(31 December 2022: BD 15 thousand), respectively. 

Impact of change on

 net interest Income

ii) Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of the financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign

exchange rates. Net open positions are monitored on a daily basis to ensure compliance within the

established limits.
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30

Up to 1 

month

1 to 3 

months

3 to 6 

months

6 months 

to 1 year

1 to 3 

years

Over 3 

years Total

Carrying 

amount

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

Assets

3,972                        -                  -                  -                  -                  -   3,972         3,972         

48,994                      -                  -                  -                  -                  -   48,994       48,994       

Islamic financing and loans to customers 3,514         6,494         9,264         21,184       39,670       43,427       123,553     112,885     

Investment securities 50,144                      -                  -                  -                  -   7,312         57,456       57,456       

Investment in associated companies                -                  -                  -                  -                  -   397            397            397            

Investment properties                -                  -                  -                  -                  -   8,012         8,012         8,012         

Property and equipment                -                  -                  -                  -                  -   3,282         3,282         3,282         

            676                -   4,639                        -                  -                  -   5,315         5,315         

Total assets 107,300     6,494         13,903       21,184       39,670       62,430       250,981     240,313     

Liabilities

Term loans                -               251 3,242         2,739         9,891         9,236         25,359       25,359       

Deposits 36,807       2,709         273            396                           -   105,723     145,908     145,908     

Other liabilities               29             103 4,341                     592                -                  -   5,065         5,065         
 

Total liabilities 36,836       3,063         7,856         3,727         9,891         114,959     176,332     176,332     

Net liquidity gap 70,464       3,431         6,047         17,457       29,779       (52,529)     

Cumulative liquidity gap 70,464       73,895       79,942       97,399       127,178     74,649       

MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 based on expected maturities.

Cash and balances with 

Central Bank of Bahrain

31 December 2023

Other assets

Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions
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30

Up to 1 

month

1 to 3 

months

3 to 6 

months

6 months to 

1 year

1 to 3     

years

Over 3 

years Total

Carrying 

amount

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

Assets

4,865                        -                  -                  -                  -                  -   4,865         4,865         

13,893                      -                  -                  -                  -                  -   13,893       13,893       

Islamic financing and loans to customers 4,828         9,204         13,370       29,055       70,340       29,379       156,176     134,034     

Investment securities 54,742                      -                  -                  -                  -   7,598         62,340       62,340       

Investment in associated companies                -                  -                  -                  -                  -   394            394            394            

Investment properties                -                  -                  -                  -                  -   5,130         5,130         5,130         

Property, plant and equipment                -                  -                  -                  -                  -   3,042         3,042         3,042         

Other assets             244                -   6,036                        -                  -                  -   6,280         6,280         

Total assets 78,572       9,204         19,406       29,055       70,340       45,543       252,120     229,978     

Liabilities

Term loans                -   251            3,242         3,493         11,710       9,107         27,803       27,803       

Deposits 11,445       2,659         265            251                           -        118,243 132,863     132,863     

Other liabilities                 5             109 5,538                     795                -                  -   6,447         6,447         
 

Total liabilities 11,450       3,019         9,045         4,539         11,710       127,350     167,113     167,113     

Net liquidity gap 67,122       6,185         10,361       24,516       58,630       (81,807)     

Cumulative liquidity gap 67,122       73,307       83,668       108,184     166,814     85,007       

31 December 2022

MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Cash and balances with 

Central Bank of Bahrain

Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions
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31

On Up to 1 1 to 3 3 to 6 6 months 1 to 3     Over

demand month months months to 1 year years 3 years Total
BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

Term loans                -               390          3,567          3,167        14,227          8,780 30,131       

Deposits        12,292        24,556          2,786             284             413                -        105,722 146,053     

Other liabilities                -                 29             103          3,360                -                  -                  -   3,492         

       12,292 24,585       3,279         7,211         3,580         14,227       114,502     179,676     

On Up to 1 1 to 3 3 to 6 6 months 1 to 3     Over

demand month months months  to 1 year years 3 years Total

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

Term loans             629                -   316            3,625         3,882         12,947       9,653         31,052       

Deposits 10,389       1,061         2,714         270        258            -              118,244 132,936     

Other liabilities                -                   5             109          4,873                -                  -                  -   4,987         

11,018       1,066         3,139         8,768         4,140         12,947       127,897     168,975     

LIQUIDITY RISK

Total liabilities

31 December 2023

31 December 2022

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or

another financial asset.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Bank’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2023 and 2022 based on the contractual undiscounted

repayment obligations. See note 30 for the expected maturities of these liabilities.

Total liabilities
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31

On Less than 3 to 12 1 to 5 

demand 3 months months years Total

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

            562             238             322               72          1,194 

         1,063             617          1,801                -            3,481 

Total          1,625             855          2,123               72 4,675         

         1,012             163             531             122          1,828 

         1,975             321             160                -            2,456 

            311                -                  -                  -               311 

Total          3,298             484             691             122          4,595 

2023 2022

442% 2186%

Commitments

The Bank expects that not all of the commitments will be drawn before expiry of the commitments.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio 

Capital expenditure

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities

Commitments

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Bank’s contingent liabilities and commitments at 31 December 2023 and 2022 based on the contractual

undiscounted repayment obligations.

31 December 2022

31 December 2023

LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)
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33 CAPITAL ADEQUACY

2023 2022

BD ’000 BD ’000

Capital base

Tier 1 capital 61,806         61,003        

Tier 2 capital 949              879             

Total capital base (a)          62,755         61,882 

Risk-weighted exposures (b)          93,109         87,455 

Capital adequacy ratio (a/b*100) 67.40% 70.76%

Minimum requirement 12.5% 12.5%

The risk asset ratio, calculated in accordance with the capital adequacy guidelines approved by the

CBB, for the Bank is as follows:

The CBB sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank as a whole. In implementing current

capital requirements, the CBB requires the Bank to maintain a prescribed ratio of total capital to total risk-

weighted assets. The capital adequacy regulations of the CBB are based on the principles of Basel III of

the IFSB guidelines.

The Bank’s regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers:

• Tier 1 capital, includes CET1 and AT1. 

CET1 comprise of ordinary share capital that meet the classification as common shares for regulatory

purposes, disclosed reserves including share premium, general reserves, legal / statutory reserve,

common shares issued by consolidated banking subsidiaries of the Bank and held by third parties,

retained earnings after regulatory adjustments relating to goodwill and items that are included in equity

which are treated differently for capital adequacy purposes. 

As at 31 December 2023

Operational risk is the exposure to loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people

and systems, or from external events. The Group has clearly defined operations procedures for each of

its products and services. It also has computer systems that enable it to run operations with speed and

accuracy. The operational risk management unit operates independently from other units of the Bank

and reports to the Chief Risk Officer. It conducts regular reviews of all business areas of the Bank and

reports control deficiencies and exceptions to the Bank’s policies and procedures. It also recommends

measures to mitigate operational risk, which are implemented by management immediately. The Bank

also has a contingency plan to take care of any failure of its computer systems. Regular back-ups are

made for all important datasets, and stored outside the Bank’s premises. This ensures that in case of

any system failure, the Bank will be able to continue its operations without losing critical data or business

transactions. As part of its disaster recovery plan, the Bank has established a back-up site which would

operate during an emergency.

Legal risk is the risk arising from the potential that unenforceable contracts, lawsuits or adverse

judgments can disrupt or otherwise negatively affect the operations of the Group. The Group has

developed controls and procedures to identify legal risks and believes that losses, if any will not be

material.

The Bank has a specific Business Continuity Plan (“BCP”) team. The main objective of the BCP is to

ensure that in the event of full or partial disaster, the Bank should be able to continue providing essential

services to customers minimizing any adverse effects on the Bank’s business, through business impact

analysis, business restoration plans and procedures, for the identified critical functions. The Bank is

conducting risk and control self assessments and capturing operational loss data in accordance with

Basel III / CBB guidelines.
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33 CAPITAL ADEQUACY (continued)

AT1 comprise of instruments that meet the criteria for inclusion in AT1, instruments issued by

consolidated banking subsidiaries of the Bank held by third parties which meet the criteria of AT1, and

regulatory adjustments applied in calculation of AT1. 

Tier 2 capital, includes instruments issued by the Bank that meet the criteria for inclusion in Tier 2

capital, stock surplus resulting from issue of Tier 2 capital, instruments issued by consolidated banking

subsidiaries of the Bank held by third parties that meet the criteria for inclusion in Tier 2, general

provisions held against unidentified losses on financing and qualify for inclusion within Tier 2, asset

revaluation reserve from revaluation of fixed assets and instruments purposes and regulatory

adjustments applied in the calculation of Tier 2 capital.

The regulatory adjustments are subject to limits prescribed by the CA module, these deductions would

be effective in a phased manner through transitional arrangements from 2015 to 2018. The regulations

prescribe higher risk weights for certain exposures that exceed materiality thresholds. These regulatory

adjustments are required for certain items such as goodwill on mortgage service right, deferred tax

assets, cash flow hedge reserve, gain on sale of related securitization transactions, defined benefit

pension fund assets and liabilities, investment in own shares and reciprocal cross holdings in the capital

of Banking and financial entities, investment in the capital of Banking and financial entities that are

outside the scope of regulatory consolidation and where the bank does not own more than 10% of

issued common share capital of the entity and significant investments in the capital of banking and

financial entities that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation.

Banking operations are categorised as either trading book or banking book, and risk-weighted assets

are determined according to specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying levels of risk

attached to assets and off-balance sheet exposures.

The primary objectives of the Bank’s capital management are i) to ensure that the Bank complies with

externally imposed capital requirements ii) maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business

and iii) to maximise shareholders’ value. The Bank manages its capital structure and makes

adjustments to it in the light of changes in business conditions and the risk characteristics of its

activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Bank may adjust the amount of dividend

payment to shareholders or issue capital securities.

Capital management 
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34 CLASSIFICATION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Designated 

as at FVTPL

FVOCI – 

debt 

instruments

FVOCI

– equity 

instruments

Amortised

cost Total

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

Assets

Cash and balances with 

Central Bank of Bahrain                   -                     -                     -               3,972            3,972 

Placements with banks and

other financial institutions                   -                     -                     -             48,994          48,994 

Islamic financing and loans

to customers                   -                     -                     -           112,885        112,885 

Investment securities             7,290           42,909                  22             7,235          57,456 

Investment in associated 

companies                   -                     -                     -                  397               397 

Investment properties                   -                     -                     -               8,012            8,012 

Property and equipment                   -                     -                     -               3,282            3,282 

                 24                   -                     -               5,291            5,315 

Total assets 7,314            42,909          22                 190,068        240,313       

Liabilities

Term loans                   -                     -                     -             25,359          25,359 

Deposits                   -                     -                     -        145,908        145,908 

Other liabilities                   -                     -                     -               5,065            5,065 

Total liabilities                   -                     -                     -   176,332        176,332       

Designated 

as at FVTPL

FVOCI – 

debt 

instruments

FVOCI

– equity 

instruments

Amortised

cost Total

BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000 BD ’000

Assets

Cash and balances with 

Central Bank of Bahrain                   -                     -                     -               4,865            4,865 

Placements with banks and

other financial institutions                   -                     -                     -             13,893          13,893 

Islamic financing and loans

to customers                   -                     -                     -           134,034        134,034 

Investment securities             7,576           24,050                  22           30,692          62,340 

Investment in associated 

companies                   -                     -                     -                  394               394 

Investment properties                   -                     -                     -               5,130            5,130 

Property and equipment                   -                     -                     -               3,042            3,042 

               288                   -                     -               5,992            6,280 

Total assets 7,864            24,050          22                 198,042        229,978       

Liabilities

Term loans                   -                     -                     -             27,803          27,803 

Deposits                   -                     -                     -           132,863        132,863 

Other liabilities                   -                     -                     -               6,447            6,447 

Total liabilities                   -                     -                     -   167,113        167,113       

31 December 2022

Other assets

Other assets

31 December 2023

The following table provides a reconciliation between line items in the consolidated statement of financial

position and categories of financial assets and liabilities:
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36 NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO

More than

No 6 months Total 

 specified Less than and less Over weighted

 maturity 6 months than one year  one year value

       61,806                 -                    -              949 62,755     

               -   44,010        3,139           124,849    136,684   

               -   4,333                           -                 -                -   

61,806       48,343        3,139           125,798    199,439   

99,599                       -                    -                 -   2,491       

               -   3,298                           -                 -   1,649       

               -   3,121          7,239                         -   5,180       

               -                   -                    -   81,634      69,389     

45,423                       -                    -                 -   45,423     

17,943                       -                    -                 -   897          

162,965     6,419          7,239           81,634      125,029   

160%

DEPOSIT PROTECTION SCHEME 

Deposits held with the Bahrain operations of the Bank are covered by the Deposit Protection Scheme

established by the CBB regulation concerning the establishment of the Deposit Protection Scheme and

Deposit Protection Board. This scheme covers eligible "natural persons" (individuals) up to a maximum of

BD 20,000 as set by the CBB requirements. A periodic contribution, as mandated by CBB, is paid by the

Bank under this scheme.

All figures in BD thousands

Performing loans to financial

Available Stable Funding (ASF):

Regulatory Capital

Wholesale funding:

liquid assets (HQLA)

loans / securities:

Capital:

With a risk weight of less than or

Capital Adequacy Ratio guidelines

loans to sovereigns, central banks

and PSEs, of which:

equal to 35% as per the CBB

institutions secured by non-level 1

  HQLA and unsecured performing  

 loans financial institutions

corporate clients, loans to retail

and small business customers, 

Performing loans to non-financial

Total RSF

NSFR (%) - As at 31 December 

Other assets:

All other assets not included in

the above categories

Off-Balance sheet items

Other wholesale funding

Other liabilities:

Performing financing and

Total ASF

Required Stable Funding (RSF):

Total NSFR high-quality 

All other liabilities not included

in the above categories

NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 

The NSFR (as a percentage) as at 31 December 2023 is calculated as follows:

Unweighted Values (i.e. before applying relevant factors)

Item

The Net Stable Funding Ratio ("NSFR") ratio is calculated in accordance with the Liquidity Risk Management

Module guidelines, issued by the CBB. The minimum NSFR ratio limit as per CBB is 100%. The Group's

consolidated NSFR ratio as of 31 December 2023 was 160% (31 December 2022: 150%).
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More than

No 6 months Total 

 specified Less than and less Over weighted

 maturity 6 months than one year  one year value

        61,003               -                    -             879     61,882 

                -         17,862            3,744    139,060   149,863 

                -           6,447                  -                -               -   

        61,003       24,309            3,744    139,939   211,745 

        59,992               -                    -                -         2,742 

                -         13,600                  -                -         2,040 

                -           4,138            5,190              -         4,664 

                -                 -                    -      110,736     94,120 

        36,322               -                    -                -       36,322 

        32,267               -                    -                -         1,613 

      128,581       17,738            5,190    110,736   141,501 

150%

37 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

All figures in BD thousands

NSFR (%) - As at 31 December 2022

All other assets not included in

the above categories

Off-Balance sheet items

Total RSF

Capital Adequacy Ratio guidelines

Other assets:

equal to 35% as per the CBB

Performing loans to financial

institutions secured by non-level 1

  HQLA and unsecured performing  to

 loans financial institutions

Performing loans to non-financial

corporate clients, loans to retail

and small business customers, and 

loans to sovereigns, central banks

and PSEs, of which:

With a risk weight of less than or

Wholesale funding:

Other wholesale funding

loans / securities:

All other liabilities not included

in the above categories

Total ASF

Required Stable Funding (RSF):

Total NSFR high-quality 

liquid assets (HQLA)

Performing financing and

Certain of the prior year figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. Such

reclassifications did not affect previously reported net income, total assets, total liabilities and total equity of

the Group.

Item

NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
As at 31 December 2023

The NSFR (as a percentage) as at 31 December 2022 is calculated as follows:

Unweighted Values (i.e. before applying relevant factors)

Other liabilities:

Available Stable Funding (ASF):

Capital:

Regulatory Capital

________________________________________________________________________________________

60


